

MEETING MINUTES
STATE OF WASHINGTON ~ BOARD OF PILOTAGE COMMISSIONERS
November 21, 2019

REGULAR MEETING – Call to Order

The regular meeting of the Board of Pilotage Commissioners was convened at 10:02 a.m. by Chair Sheri Tonn in the Agate Conference Room, 2901 Third Avenue, Seattle, Washington.

Present:

Chair: Sheri Tonn Vice Chair: Ned Kiley

Commissioners: Sara Thompson, Eleanor Kirtley, Timothy J. Farrell, John Scragg, and Rik Krombeen

Administration: Jaimie Bever, Bettina Maki, Jolene Hamel

Assistant Attorney General: Albert Wang

Linda Styrk, Ivan Carlson: Puget Sound Pilots

Mike Folkers: Port of Grays Harbor

Lou Paulsen: The Northwest Seaport Alliance

Linda Sturgis, Laird Hail, Zachary Spence, James Carter: United States Coast Guard

Andrew Drennen: Polar Tankers

JD Ross Leahy, Rachel Assink: Department of Ecology

Minutes. Motion: Kiley/Scragg – approve the September 19, 2019 Meeting Minutes as written – Carried.

BPC Staff Report.

- Jaimie Bever introduced and welcomed Bettina Maki, BPC's new Program Analyst, who started with the agency November 1, 2019. Over the next few months, Ms. Maki will work on revisions to data reporting and with the Board on future report options.
- Jaimie Bever and/or Chair Tonn attended several meetings since September including Puget Sound Harbor Safety Committee, Department of Ecology, Pacific States/BC Oil Spill Task Force Annual Meeting, and Salish Sea Shared Waters Forum. More information will be provided further in the agenda.
- The Fall 2019 edition of the *BPC Pilotage Quarterly* newsletter was distributed in early October. The Winter 2019 edition will be available in January, which will cover the fourth quarter of 2019.

BPC Chair Report.

- The Pacific States/BC Oil Spill Task Force Annual Meeting and Salish Sea Shared Waters Forum were held November 13 & 14. Both meetings had good participation. From the BPC, Commissioner Thompson as well as Jaimie Bever and Chair Tonn were in attendance. Jaimie Bever presented at the Salish Sea Shared Waters Forum on a panel titled "Marine Emergency Response Systems".

Activity Reports. Captain Ivan Carlson representing Puget Sound Pilots (PSP), Mike Folkers representing the Port of Grays Harbor (PGH), Mike Moore representing Pacific Merchant Shipping Association (PMSA), Lou Paulsen representing The Northwest Seaport Alliance (NWSA), and Captain Linda Sturgis representing the United States Coast Guard (USCG) offered current and projected statistical data as well as updates on current maritime issues and activities.

Captain Linda Sturgis, Sector Commander Puget Sound and Captain of the Port, reported on several recent issues with the USCG building resulting in multiple evacuations. No injuries were reported. She offered appreciation and thanks to Puget Sound Pilots for reaching out after the evacuations, offering a secondary location for operations.

Captain Sturgis also wanted to thank the pilots for the constant dialog regarding tsunami evacuation. She reported that the pilots have been very generous working with the USCG on their evacuation plan and feels there is great cooperation out on Ediz Hook in Port Angeles.

She mentioned a previous effort by prior Sector Commander Captain Joe Raymond to codify historically used anchorages that were not federally designated in Puget Sound, such as Vendovi. That federal register went out in January 2016. However, it did not move forward due to the no-new-regulations hold that was put in the place by the new incoming administration in 2017 and the numerous comments the proposal received, including tribal concerns and requests for zero vessels anchoring in their treaty fishing areas. As a result, the USCG and the pilots have developed better communication with the tribes,

specifically Lummi, Swinomish and Tulalip. When the pilots are going to move a vessel, VTS will work with USCG command center to notify tribal enforcement to identify locations of fishing nets and crab pots. Captain Sturgis reports that it has been a very effective communication tool and thanked the pilots for that effort as well.

Regarding ESHB 1578, Captain Sturgis asked the BPC to ask themselves about potential risks from decisions made regarding adding additional vessels to the traffic system. She also urged the Commissioners to tour the VTS, if they have not, to see how vessel traffic is managed in Puget Sound. She offered an invitation to all Commissioners and their families. BPC staff offered to help coordinate those tours. She also encouraged the Commissioners to think about the safety measures already in place for pilots in the U.S. and Canada. She pointed out the 1997 implementation of the International Tug of Opportunity System. Lastly, regarding the Southern Resident Killer Whale, she acknowledged that everyone is concerned about the SRKW, but to look closely at the impacts of increased vessels, noise, and pollution additional vessels may add.

Captain Laird Hail added that during the evacuation of their building, Canada was able to successfully step in and pick-up the command of the area. It was a good test of the evacuation system and partnership with Canada. They identified lessons learned for future improvements.

Captain Sturgis closed her comments by stating that the USCG was there to help, including providing data for their operations. She acknowledged the region's delicate ecosystem and that it could not withstand a major oil spill. She reiterated that pilots are the USCG's eyes and ears for security on the water. Chair Tonn thanked her for her comments.

NEW BUSINESS

Pilot Order Time Changes in the Puget Sound Pilotage District. Executive Director Linda Styrk spoke on behalf of the Puget Sound Pilots and offered an apology for the confusion regarding the pilot order time changes from 24 hours to 48 hours in the 2019 tidebooks and on their website. She offered that it was an aspirational goal to mitigate ship delays due to pilot shortages as opposed to an actual time change. She acknowledged that better communication was needed. The 2020 tidebook language will be the same as the 2018 tidebook language regarding the ordering of a pilot and the website will be corrected as well. She did stress that the pilots appreciate as much advanced notice as possible, especially when they are calling pilots back during their respite. Chair Tonn pointed out that in 2018, the BPC notified various parties of shipping delays due to pilot shortages and that communications regarding changes in order time or other pilotage service related impacts should be handled in the same fashion.

Determination of 2020 Board Meeting Schedule. The Board reviewed the proposed meeting schedule for 2020, which reflected the third Thursday of every month, with the exception of November and December on the second Thursdays. The August meeting again, will likely occur in Grays Harbor.

Motion: Farrell/Scragg – adopt the 2020 meeting schedule as presented – Carried

Approval of Pilot License Upgrade Programs: Captains Neil Kelleher & Travis McGrath: Captain Kelleher is completing his fourth year and Captain McGrath is nearing completion of his first license year. The letters has been updated to reflect the new license levels.

Motion: Scragg/Kiley – approve license upgrade programs for Captains Kelleher and McGrath as drafted by the TEC – Carried.

Consideration of Pilot Request for Medical Disability Retirement & License Fee Credit. Captain D.A. Sanders, Puget Sound Pilots, has notified the Board of his intent to retire under the provisions of WAC 363-116-110(2) and the terms of the Puget Sound Pilots' Medical Disability Retirement Plan. Under these provisions Captain Sanders has a five-year window in which to return to active piloting provided he can meet all the requirements of the then Board physical standards and pursuant to WAC 363-116-110(2). Captain Sanders also requested that the Board reduce his 2019 license fee to \$1,000 under the provisions of WAC 363-116-070, as he was unable to pilot in 2019.

Motion: Scragg/Farrell – Consider Captain Sanders as retired under Puget Sound Pilots' Disability Retirement Plan and thereby having the possibility of returning within five years of his official retirement date under the provisions of WAC 363-116-110(2) – Carried.

Motion: Kiley/Scragg – Reduce Captain Sanders’ 2019 license fees to \$1,000 pursuant to WAC 363-116-070 and refund the balance to Puget Sound Pilots – Carried.

Discussion regarding Grays Harbor Pilotage.

The Board reviewed a letter from Chair Tonn to Captain R.M. White reminding him that pursuant to WAC 363-116-200(6) any pilot who shall absent themselves from pilotage duties for a period of 60 days or more without permission from the Board shall be liable to suspension or to the forfeiture of their license. Captain White provided an explanation for his recent absence from pilotage and requested for a waiver for the short timeframe he was outside the provisions of WAC 363-116-200(6).

Motion: Kiley/Thompson – acknowledge Captain White’s absence from pilotage in the Grays Harbor Pilotage District beginning July 29, 2019 and because of the circumstances outlined by Captain White, grant him a waiver from when 60 days expired on September 28, 2019 to November 2019 when he resumed pilotage duties – Carried.

UTC Ex-Parte Reminders. The Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) came to the April 2019 Board meeting and provided a ‘UTC-101’ to help the Board become familiar with their processes and rules for rate setting. The Board received the handouts from that presentation again as reminders of the ex-parte rules once the tariff filing by the Puget Sound Pilots has occurred. Once the filing is official, Board members will only be able to communicate to BPC staff and the Chair regarding current and active programs, not the filing. Once the filing is complete and issued a docket number, Board members will be notified. Captain Ivan Carlson, Puget Sound Pilots, offered that the filing was submitted by Puget Sound Pilots yesterday, November 20th. The Board should direct their questions and comments to each other, the party who filed the rate change request, or directly to the UTC via a public comment process. The Port of Grays Harbor has already filed their tariff request. However, they have a more simplified process with no ex-parte rules.

Update Regarding ESHB 1578

- A. Pacific States/BC Oil Spill Task Force Annual Meeting and Salish Sea Shared Waters Forum.** Both meetings provided excellent information and were well attended. Jaimie Bever and Mike Moore gave excellent presentations. Presentation materials are available at the Pacific States/BC Oil Spill Task Force website. Links will be provided to the Board.
- B. December 9th 2019 Listening Sessions at the Port of Everett.** This event consists of two sessions, with a no-host lunch in between. From 10am – 12pm Jaimie Bever will lead a discussion regarding the Rosario Strait and connected waterways east tug escort requirements. From 1pm – 3pm Brian Kirk, Department of Ecology, will lead a discussion regarding geographic zone identification, including presentation by Captain Blair Bouma on a pilot’s perspective of the geographic area. On November 12th, Captain Bouma provided tug escort training to members of the Board and the Department of Ecology, which was very informative. The BPC is grateful to him for his time and sharing his expertise. Board member were encouraged to attend the listening sessions. Detailed notes of the conversation will be available to the Board and the public. The next step after the listening sessions will be to review the Interagency Agreement with the Department of Ecology and establish an Oil Transportation Safety Committee to conduct analysis and provide recommendations to the Board.
- C. Definition/Interpretations of Terms.** Several terms in ESHB 1578 are in need of further clarification/interpretation. The new committee and the Board will be working on interpretive statements for those terms to help clarify the bill language. The Board received and reviewed a list of terms already identified including “Rosario Strait and connected waterways east”, “under the escort of a tug or tugs”, “bunkering or refueling services”, “unladen”, and “in ballast”. Additional terms are expected to surface at the December 9th listening sessions.

Commissioner Thompson introduced members of the Ecology team who were in the audience. Rachel Assink is a fellow from the School of Marine Affairs at the University of Washington helping with the vessel activity synopsis. JD Leahy, who is a graduate from the University of Washington School of Marine Affairs, is the first member of Ecology’s modeling team. Contacts within the Department of Ecology have changed. Scott Ferguson retired with Brian Kirk replacing him, Rob Dengel has accepted a new position within Ecology, and Commissioner Thompson is the liaison between the Board and Ecology and will be on the new tug escort committee.

Consideration of Request for Vessel Exemption:

Sailing Yacht ZAZIE – 49', 9 gt, New Caledonia registry, Captain Sophie Garioud Rozand.

Motion: Farrell/Kiley – concur with Vice Chair's granting of an annual exemption – Carried.

Pilot's Report of Marine Safety Occurrence: BELLAVIA, 10-07-2019

NB traffic lanes approaching Bush Point	Engine slowdown/problems, but no engine failure. VTS was notified and a tug was called. However, bad weather made tug timeframe too long. The pilot proceeded to anchor at PA without issue with lower RPMs and permission from the Captain of the Port.	<u>Motion:</u> Kiley/Farrell File as a Marine Safety Occurrence – Carried.
---	--	---

Pilot's Report of Marine Safety Occurrence: CIELO Di DUBLINO, 10-15-2019

Commencement Bay, Hylebos Waterway	During two-pilot job, second pilot asked for dead slow ahead and vessel was unable to respond. The issue was corrected and VTS authorized the vessel to proceed. The vessel arrived at berth with no further issues.	<u>Motion:</u> Kiley/Kirtley File as a Marine Safety Occurrence – Carried.
------------------------------------	--	---

Pilot's Report of Marine Safety Occurrence: BUNUN INFINITY, 11-08-2019

Underway in Hylebos	Barge came loose and was drifting towards vessel. Pilot attempted but could not reach barge owner, however barge did not make impact with vessel.	<u>Motion:</u> Farrell/Kiley File as a Marine Safety Occurrence – Carried.
---------------------	---	---

The BPC received notification of a recent incident involving the *WELLINGTON STAR*. The vessel ran through a fishing net, which was believed to belong to a Lummi fisherman. Jaimie Bever notified the Lummi Nation, who had not yet received any reports of damaged nets. The Pilot's Report of Incident is pending. Therefore, this incident will be reviewed at the December 16, 2019 meeting.

Committee Reports.**Trainee Evaluation Committee (TEC):**

- The TEC met on both October 16 and November 13, 2019 and reviewed training progress for all current trainees: Miller, Bozina, Siddell, Velarde, Hannuksela, McGourty, Knutsen, Gartner and McMullen. There was an intervention on August 31st and the trainee came to the October TEC meeting to discuss the intervention. The TEC was satisfied with the explanation received. There are no other issues to report. There are currently nine trainees in the program: four in the Evaluation phase, three in the Training phase, and two in the Observation phase. Captain Michael deferred entry and will start his program December 1, 2019.
- Captain Trevor Bozina is nearing completion of his training program and most likely will have his Federal License between the December and January meetings. The TEC is asking that the Board consider licensing between Board meetings. Chair Tonn requested that this be considered in December, as the Board will have a better idea of his completion date at that time. The TEC requested Board approval to send him through PPU training.
Motion: Scragg/Kiley – Approve the PPU training for Captain Bozina and provide an additional one-time stipend for the training – Carried
- The TEC continues discussion regarding reduced training opportunities in the Duwamish Waterway due to significant reduction in traffic. The TEC has made the Duwamish a hard-to-get trip, establishing a rotation of trainees, requiring a minimum of six training trips (two in stern first, and two out) and two evaluation trips, and exploring a first-year license restriction in the waterway. The restriction would mean that first year pilots could only be the secondary pilot on the two-pilot job. As a result, the Duwamish Waterway would be included the license upgrade programs for the lifting first-year license restrictions. Otherwise, the limited training opportunities could hold up the licensing of trainees. The TEC has worked on drafting an emergency rule, which the Board's Assistant Attorney General will review before presentation to the Board in December.
- The TEC is concerned with the USCG's Regional Examination Center (REC) potential policy changes concerning federal licensing and feels that it could restrict potential trainees in the future. The TEC would like the Board to write a letter to the REC expressing those concerns and requesting ongoing communication regarding future changes. Chair Tonn stated that she has

been in communication with John D. Dwyer, USCG Officer in Charge, Marine Inspection. She has also been in contact with the manager of the REC. Both have assured her that the pilots and the BPC will be involved in any future changes.

BPC/PSP Joint Diversity Committee (JDC):

- The JDC had a productive meeting on November 15, 2019. They discussed membership and reviewed some of the activities that occurred in 2019. Recruitment needs to start younger than high school given the lack of awareness of maritime careers here in the Puget Sound area. The Committee reviewed the action plan and goals for the upcoming year and are currently working on scheduling the next meeting, with meetings occurring quarterly in 2020.

Fatigue Management Committee (FMC):

- Jaimie Bever and Chair Tonn will be scheduling a meeting with FMC Chair Phil Morrell to work on the resumption committee activities.

Commission Investigative Committee (CIC):

- The Committee has been working on revised investigative procedures, which will be presented for Board consideration at the December or January meeting.

Oil Transportation Safety Committee (OTSC):

- The purpose of this advisory committee is to conduct analysis and provide recommendations to the Board regarding directives from ESHB 1578 concerning the BPC. Committee membership will include a Chair who is affiliated with the BPC, plus both BPC and non-BPC members, including pilot, environmental, industry, tug, and tribal representation. Mark Homeyer, Crowley, has expressed interest in the Committee, as has Puget Sound pilot Captain Blair Bouma. Jaimie Bever is drafting a Committee charter for consideration at the December meeting.

Review of Pilot/Trainee Physical Examination Reports.

Motion: Scragg/Kiley – approve the physicians' reports for Captains P.V. Hunter, J.A. Hannuksela, T.D. Coryell, D.B. Soriano, R.A. Myers, R.M. White, J.T. Galvin, G.P. Thoreson and S.E. Moreno for annual pilot license renewal – Carried.

Motion: Kiley/Farrell – approve the physician report for Captain F. McMullen for new trainee physical – Carried.

Motion: Kiley/Farrell – approve the physician report for Captain P.L. Velarde for annual trainee physical – Carried.

Confirmation of Next Regular Meeting Dates. The next regular meeting dates are set for:

- December 16 – Agate Conference Room
- January 16 – Rainier Conference Room

There being no further public business to come before the Board, Chair Tonn adjourned the meeting at 12:45pm.

Respectfully submitted,

Jaimie C. Bever, Executive Director

Sheri J. Tonn, Chair

Edmund I. Kiley, Vice Chair

Absent
Commissioner Philip Morrell

Commissioner John Scragg

Commissioner Eleanor Kirtley

Commissioner Timothy J. Farrell

Commissioner Rik Krombeen

Absent
Commissioner Michael Anthony

Commissioner Sara Thompson